

UNIVERSITI PUTRA MALAYSIA

IMPACT OF LECTURER'S PERSONAL AND IMPERSONAL FACEBOOK ACCOUNT ACCESS ON STUDENTS' PERCEIVED LECTURERS SELF-DISCLOSURE, STUDENTS' EMOTIONAL ENGAGEMENT, STUDENT-LECTURER COMMUNICATION SATISFACTION, AND ACADEMIC PERFORMANCE

PADMA PRIYA K.R PILLAI

FBMK 2020 60



IMPACT OF LECTURER'S PERSONAL AND IMPERSONAL FACEBOOK ACCOUNT ACCESS ON STUDENTS' PERCEIVED LECTURERS SELF-DISCLOSURE, STUDENTS' EMOTIONAL ENGAGEMENT, STUDENT-LECTURER COMMUNICATION SATISFACTION, AND ACADEMIC PERFORMANCE

By

PADMA PRIYA K.R PILLAI

Thesis Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies, Universiti Putra Malaysia, in Fulfilment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

COPYRIGHT

All material contained within the thesis, including without limitation text, logos, icons, photographs, and all other artwork, is copyright material of Universiti Putra Malaysia unless otherwise stated. Use may be made of any material contained within the thesis for non-commercial purposes from the copyright holder. Commercial use of material may only be made with the express, prior, written permission of Universiti Putra Malaysia.

Copyright © Universiti Putra Malaysia



Abstract of thesis presented to the Senate of Universiti Putra Malaysia in fulfilment of the requirement for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

IMPACT OF LECTURER'S PERSONAL AND IMPERSONAL FACEBOOK ACCOUNT ACCESS ON STUDENTS' PERCEIVED LECTURERS SELF-DISCLOSURE, STUDENTS' EMOTIONAL ENGAGEMENT, STUDENT-LECTURER COMMUNICATION SATISFACTION, AND ACADEMIC PERFORMANCE

By

PADMA PRIYA K.R PILLAI

July 2020

Chairman : Associate Professor Jusang bin Bolong, PhD Faculty : Modern Languages and Communication

Facebook served as an excellent platform for students and lecturers to connect, with the rise of its use by academicians, given its positive features. Studies indicated the benefit of using Facebook in education. One significant issue regarding Facebook use in education is the role of lecturers' self-disclosure in student learning. This self-disclosure can either be in the personal or impersonal mode of the lecturers' Facebook account. While substantial studies examined how lecturers utilised Facebook in education, the impact of lecturer's personal and impersonal Facebook account access on Students' Perceived Intensity of Lecturers' Self-Disclosure (SPILSD), Students' Emotional Engagement (SEE), Student-lecturer Communication Satisfaction (SCS) and Students' Academic Performances (SAP) were yet to be explored. Therefore, this study examined the level of SPILSD, SEE, SCS, and SAP factors on the personal and impersonal lecturers' Facebook account. The study defined the pre-test and post-test difference before testing the hypotheses difference relating to these factors.

This study used a Quasi-experimental research design, with a total of 120 students participated in the study. Participants were assigned into two groups with one group (60 students) connected to their lecturers' personal Facebook account access. The other group (60 students) were connected to their lecturers' impersonal Facebook account access. Participants filled out a self-administered questionnaire on week one (pre-test) and week fourteen (post-test) of the semester. The questionnaire contained questions on the SPILSD, SEE, SAP and SCS in terms of feedback and everyday conversation. This method was essential to acquire new knowledge on the Facebook platform and useful to establish an Emotion Response Theory (ERT).

The results revealed that the level of SPILSD was more significant in the lecturers' personal Facebook account compared to the impersonal account. Group analysis for the lecturers' personal Facebook account showed a substantial difference in the level of SPILSD, SEE, SCS, and SAP. However, the lecturers' impersonal Facebook account showed positive changes only in SPILSD, SEE, and SCS but not in SAP. Group analysis revealed that there is no impact on SPILSD, SEE, and SAP between lecturers' personal and impersonal Facebook account, while positive changes were only found in SCS.

This study contributed to the growing body of knowledge on Facebook utilisation in education by clarifying the association of lecturers' personal and impersonal Facebook account with SPILSD, SAP, SCS, and SEE.

Abstrak tesis yang dikemukakan kepada Senat Universiti Putra Malaysia sebagai memenuhi keperluan untuk ijazah Doktor Falsafah

IMPAK AKAUN FACEBOOK PERIBADI DAN BUKAN PERIBADI PENSYARAH TEHADAP TANGGAPAN PELAJAR MENGENAI PENDEDAHAN KENDIRI PENSYARAH, PENGLIBATAN EMOSI, KEPUASAN KOMUNIKASI DAN PRESTASI AKADEMIK

Oleh

PADMA PRIYA K.R PILLAI

Julai 2020

Pengerusi : Profesor Madya Jusang bin Bolong, PhD

Fakulti : Bahasa Moden dan Komunikasi

Facebook berfungsi sebagai satu medium perhubungan yang baik antara para pensyarah dan pelajar. Kini, terdapat peningkatan penggunaan Facebook dalam kalangan ahli akademik kerana faedah yang diperoleh daripada penggunaan Facebook. Kajian telah menunjukkan manfaat penggunaan Facebook dalam aktiviti pengajaran. Salah satu isu yang penting mengenai penggunaan Facebook dalam pengajaran adalah peranan pendedahan kendiri pensyarah dalam pembelajaran pelajar.

Pendedahan kendiri ini boleh berlaku dalam mod akaun peribadi atau bukan peribadi *Facebook* para pensyarah. Walaupun terdapat banyak kajian yang menganalisa tentang penggunaan *Facebook* oleh pensyarah dalam pengajaran, persoalan tentang kesan penggunaan akaun *Facebook* peribadi dan bukan peribadi pensyarah dalam mengkaji tahap persepsi intensiti pelajar terhadap pendedahan kendiri pensyarah, tahap penglibatan emosi pelajar ketika berinteraksi dengan pensyarah mereka, tahap kepuasan komunikasi di antara pensyarah dengan pelajar dari segi maklum balas pensyarah, dan prestasi akademik pelajar, masih belum dikenalpasti.

Objektif kajian ini adalah menangani jurang tersebut dengan mengkaji tahap persepsi intensiti pelajar terhadap pendedahan kendiri pensyarah, tahap penglibatan emosi pelajar ketika berinteraksi dengan pensyarah mereka, tahap kepuasan komunikasi di antara pensyarah dengan pelajar dari segi maklum balas pensyarah, dan prestasi akademik pelajar serta mengenalpasti perbezaan tahap persepsi intensiti pelajar terhadap pendedahan kendiri pensyarah, tahap penglibatan emosi pelajar Ketika berinteraksi dengan pensyarah mereka, tahap kepuasan komunikasi di antara pensyarah dengan pelajar dari segi maklum balas pensyarah, dan prestasi akademik

pelajar, semasa pra ujian dan selepas ujian. Kajian ini juga menguji hipotesis tentang perbezaan tahap persepsi intensiti pelajar terhadap pendedahan kendiri pensyarah, penglibatan emosi pelajar, kepuasan komunikasi di antara pelajar dengan pensyarah dari segi maklum balas pensyarah, dan prestasi akademik pelajar dalam penggunaan mod akaun *Facebook* peribadi dan bukan peribadi dalam pengajaran.

Kajian ini menggunakan kaedah eksperimen quasi dan seramai 120 orang pelajar telah mengambil bahagian dalam kajian ini. Para pelajar telah dibahagikan kepada dua kumpulan, dimana satu kumpulan (60 orang pelajar) berhubung dengan pensyarah mereka melalui akaun *Facebook* peribadi pensyarah. Kumpulan yang satu lagi (60 orang pelajar) pula berhubung dengan pensyarah mereka melalui *Facebook* bukan peribadi pensyarah. Pelajar telah melengkapkan soal selidik pada minggu pertama (pra-ujian) dan minggu keempat belas (selepas ujian) pada semester tersebut. Soal selidik mengandungi soalan-soalan mengenai keluasan pendedahan kendiri pensyarah, penglibatan emosi pelajar, dan kepuasan komunikasi *Facebook* pelajar dengan pensyarah mereka dari segi maklum balas dan perbualan seharian, dan juga prestasi akademik pelajar. Kaedah ini bukan sahaja penting untuk menambahkan pengetahuan baru mengenai *Facebook*, malah ia penting untuk mengesahkan Teori Maklumbalas Emosi.

Hasil kajian menunjukkan tahap persepsi intensiti para pelajar terhadap pendedahan kendiri pensyarah adalah lebih tinggi melalui *Facebook* akaun peribadi pensyarah berbanding dengan *Facebook* akaun bukan peribadi pensyarah. Analisis kumpulan yang berinteraksi dengan akaun *Facebook* peribadi pensyarah menunjukkan perbezaan yang signifikan dari segi tahap intensiti pelajar terhadap pendedahan diri pensyarah, penglibatan emosi pelajar, kepuasan komunikasi pelajar-pensyarah, dan prestasi akademik pelajar.

Namun bagi kumpulan yang berinteraksi dengan akaun *Facebook* bukan peribadi pensyarah, perbezaan yang signifikan hanya dilihat dalam persepsi intensiti pelajar terhadap pendedahan diri pensyarah, penglibatan emosi pelajar, dan kepuasan komunikasi pelajar-pensyarah, tetapi tidak ditemui dalam prestasi akademik pelajar. Analisis kedua-dua kumpulan turut menunjukkan tiada perbezaan yang signifikan dalam persepsi intensiti pelajar terhadap pendedahan diri pensyarah, penglibatan emosi pelajar dan prestasi akademik pelajar melalui akaun *Facebook* peribadi dan bukan peribadi pensyarah. Perbezaan yang signifikan hanya dilihat dalam kepuasan komunikasi di antara pelajar dengan pensyarah.

Kajian ini menyumbang kepada bidang pengetahuan yang semakin meningkat iaitu penggunaan *Facebook* dalam pengajaran dengan menjelaskan hubungan pendedahan diri pensyarah di *Facebook* dengan prestasi akademik pelajar, kepuasan komunikasi pelajar-pensyarah, dan penglibatan emosi pelajar.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

My humble pranam to Satya Sai and Shrdi Sai Baba. Nothing is impossible with your blessings. Thank you, Baba. Amma, this is for you.

I would like to express my sincere gratitude and utmost appreciation to Professor Ehzar Bin Tamam for his patience and guidance as my previous supervisor. Special dedication to Associate Professor Dr. Jusang Bin Bolong for his continuous and endless advice and support throughout my Ph.D. journey. I'm indeed fortunate to have a supervisor that cared deeply about my work. He has always been responded promptly to all my queries, even the silly ones. Dr. Jusang has been an inspiration throughout this gruelling voyage. His patience, motivation, and immense knowledge have been pivotal towards the completion of my thesis. Special thanks to Associate Professor Dr. Mohd Nizam Osman for his encouragement and believing in me and not forgetting Dr. Norliana Binti Hashim for being part of the completion of this thesis.

Special thanks to my examiners Prof Dr. Abdul Mua'ti @Zamri bin Ahmad, Assoc Prof Dr. Hamisah binti Hasan, and Prof Dr. Ling Chen for their constructive comments to improvise my thesis.

My sincere appreciation is extended to my mentors, Professor Ramayiah and Professor Dr. Dilip Kumar, and my colleagues and students at Sunway University for their provocative ideas and wisdom that had been instrumental throughout the completion of my study. My babes, Ambi, and Thana for all the light-hearted jokes that kept my sanity in check. Special mention to Jason Raj and Kalaivany Nagappan for their tremendous support.

Last but not least, I am eternally grateful to my siblings, especially Murali Pillai and Eswary Pillai, for their continuous prayers. To my husband, Shan, my pillar of support for many years through my ups and downs and never stopped me from realising my dreams till today. Thanks, 'D' as words are not enough to express my gratitude. To my two beautiful daughters, Abhilasha Sai and Laksyna Sai, for their emotional and spiritual support throughout my Ph.D. cruise. Their daily hugs were my source of energy to continue my final laps.

This thesis was submitted to the Senate of the Universiti Putra Malaysia and has been accepted as fulfilment of the requirement for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy. The members of the Supervisory Committee were as follows:

Jusang bin Bolong, PhD

Associate Professor Faculty of Modern Languages and Communication Universiti Putra Malaysia (Chairman)

Mohd Nizam Osman, PhD

Associate Professor
Faculty of Modern Languages and Communication
Universiti Putra Malaysia
(Member)

Norliana binti Hashim, PhD

Senior Lecturer
Faculty of Modern Languages and Communication
Universiti Putra Malaysia
(Member)

ZALILAH MOHD SHARIFF, PhD

Professor and Dean School of Graduate Studies Universiti Putra Malaysia

Date: 12 November 2020

Declaration by graduate student

I hereby confirm that:

- this thesis is my original work;
- quotations, illustrations and citations have been duly referenced;
- this thesis has not been submitted previously or concurrently for any other degree at any institutions;
- intellectual property from the thesis and copyright of thesis are fully-owned by Universiti Putra Malaysia, as according to the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Research) Rules 2012;
- written permission must be obtained from supervisor and the office of Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Research and innovation) before thesis is published (in the form of written, printed or in electronic form) including books, journals, modules, proceedings, popular writings, seminar papers, manuscripts, posters, reports, lecture notes, learning modules or any other materials as stated in the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Research) Rules 2012;
- there is no plagiarism or data falsification/fabrication in the thesis, and scholarly integrity is upheld as according to the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Graduate Studies) Rules 2003 (Revision 2012-2013) and the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Research) Rules 2012. The thesis has undergone plagiarism detection software

Signature: _		Date:	
_			

Name and Matric No: Padma Priya K.R Pillai, GS29770

Declaration by Members of Supervisory Committee

This is to confirm that:

- the research conducted and the writing of this thesis was under our supervision;
- supervision responsibilities as stated in the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Graduate Studies) Rules 2003 (Revision 2012-2013) were adhered to.

Signature:	
Name of Chairman	
of Supervisory	
Committee:	Associate Professor Dr. Jusang bin Bolong
	PM
Signature:	
Name of Member	The state of the s
of Supervisory	
Committee:	Associate Professor Dr. Mohd Nizam Osman
Signature:	
Name of Member	
of Supervisory	
Committee:	Dr. Norliana binti Hashim

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
ABSTI	RACT	i
ABSTE	RAK	iii
ACKN	OWLEDGEMENTS	v
APPR	OVAL	vi
DECL	ARATION	viii
LIST (OF TABLES	xiii
LIST (OF FIGURES	XV
LIST (OF ABBREVIATIONS	xvi
CHAP	TER	
1	INTRODUCTION	1
	Background of the Study	1
	Problem Statement	1 3 5
	Research Questions	5
	Research Objectives	6
	General Objective:	6
	Specific Objectives:	6
	The scope of the Study	7
	Limitation of the Study	7
	Significance of the Study	7 8 9
	Definition of the key terms	9
	Lecturers Personal Facebook Account	9
	Lecturers' Impersonal Facebook account	9
	Students' Perceived Intensity of Lecturers' Self-	
	Disclosure	10
	Students' Emotional Engagement	10
	Student-Lecturer Communication Satisfaction	10
	Students' Academic Performance	10
	Chapter Summary	11
2	LITERATURE REVIEW	12
	Introduction	12
	Facebook as an educational tool	12
	Students' perceived intensity of lecturers' self-disclosure	
	in personal and impersonal Facebook account access	14
	Lecturers' Personal and Impersonal Facebook account	
	access impact on Students' Emotional Engagement	17
	Student-Lecturer Communication Satisfaction	19
	Students' Academic Performance	24
	Facebook as a teaching and learning tool in higher learning	
	institutions in Malaysia	26
	Hypotheses Development	29
	Theoretical Perspective - Emotional Response Theory	31

	Conceptual Model of the Study	35
	Chapter Summary	35
3	RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	36
	Introduction	36
	Research Design	36
	Case study	36
	Quasi-Experimental Research	37
	Location of Study	39
	Instrument	39
	Measurement	41
	Students' Perceived Intensity of Lectures' Self-	
	Disclosure	41
	Students' Emotional Engagement	42
	Student-Lecturer Communication Satisfaction	42
	Sampling Method	43
	Ethical Issues	44
	Pilot Study	45
	Data Collection Process	46
	Pre-Test of Quasi-Experiment Research	47
	Post-Test of Quasi-Experiment Research	47
	Data Analysis Methods	47
	Screening of Data	47
	Chapter Summary	48
	DEGLIA TICANO DIGGLIGGIONA	40
4	RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	49
	Respondents' Profile	49
	Result of Statistical Analysis	51
	Difference between Students' Perceived Intensity of	
	Lecturers' Self-Disclosure in Lecturers' Personal	5 1
	Facebook Account	51
	Difference between Students' Perceived Intensity of	
	Lecturers' Self-Disclosure in Lecturers' Impersonal	- 4
	Facebook Account	54
	Differences Between Students' Emotional Engagement in	5 0
	Lecturers' Personal Facebook Account	58
	Differences Between Students' Emotional Engagement in	
	Lecturers' Impersonal Facebook Account	62
	Differences between Student-Lecturer Communication	
	Satisfaction in Lecturers' Personal Facebook Account	67
	Differences between Student-Lecturer Communication	
	Satisfaction in Lecturers' Impersonal Facebook Account	72
	Difference between Students' Academic Performance in	
	Lecturers' Personal Facebook Account	78
	Difference between Students' Academic Performance in	
	Lecturers' Impersonal Facebook Account	80
	Discussion of the result	86
	Summary of Hypothesis Testing	89
	Chapter Summary	93

5	SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION	94
	Implications of the Study	96
	Theoretical Implication	96
	Methodological Implication	97
	Practical Implication	98
	Policy Implication	98
	Limitations and Suggestions for Future Studies	99
Conclusion		100
RE	FERENCES	101
BIC	DDATA OF STUDENT	142
LIS	ST OF PUBLICATIONS	143



LIST OF TAB LES

Table		Page
3.1	Research Instrument Details	40
3.2	Structure of Questionnaires	40
3.3	Reliability Analysis of Pilot Study	46
4.1	Distributions of Respondents' Profile (n = 120)	50
4.2	Students' Perceived Intensity of Lecturers' Self-Disclosure in Lecturers' Personal Facebook Account (n:60)	52
4.3	Students' Perceived Intensity of Lecturers' Self-Disclosure in Lecturers' Personal Facebook account - Paired Sample T-Test (n:60)	53
4.4	Students' Perceived Intensity of Lecturers' Self-Disclosure in Lecturers' Impersonal Facebook Account (n:60)	55
4.5	Students' Perceived Intensity of Lecturers' Self-Disclosure in Lecturers' Impersonal Facebook account - Paired Sample T-Test (n:60)	56
4.6	Students' Emotional Engagement in Lecturers' Personal Facebook account (n: 60)	58
4.7	Students' Emotional Engagement in Lecturers' Personal Facebook Account – Paired Sample T-Test (n:60)	59
4.8	Students' Emotional Engagement in Lecturers' Impersonal Facebook Account (n:60)	63
4.9	Students' Emotional Engagement in Lecturers' Impersonal Facebook Account –Paired Sample T-Test (n: 60)	63
4.10	Student-Lecturer Communication Satisfaction in Lecturers' Personal Facebook Account (n: 60)	67
4.11	Students' Emotional Engagement in Lecturers' Personal Facebook Account – Paired Sample T-Test (n: 60)	68
4.12	Student-lecturer Communication Satisfaction in Lecturers' Impersonal Facebook Account (n:60)	73
4.13	Student-Lecturer Communication Satisfaction in Lecturers' Impersonal Facebook Account – Paired Sample T-Test (n:60)	74
4 14	Lecturers' Personal Facebook Account –SAP (n:60)	79

4.15	Lecturers' Impersona	I Facebook Account – SAP (n: 60)	80
------	----------------------	----------------------------------	----

4.16 Lecturers' Personal and Impersonal Facebook Account (n: 120) 83



LIST OF FIGURES

Figure		Page
2.1	Conceptual Framework	35
3.1	Pre-test and Post-test data collection process	46
4.1	Lecturers' Personal Facebook Account	90
4.2	Lecturers' Impersonal Facebook Account	91
4.3	Comparison of Lecturers' Personal and Lecturers' Impersonal Facebook Account Based on Post-Test Data.	92

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

SPILSD Students' Perceived Intensity of Lecturers' Self-Disclosure

SEE Students' Emotional Engagement

P Pleasure
A Arousal

D Dominance

SLCS Student-Lecturer Communication Satisfaction

CC Communication Climate

RL Relationship with Lecturer

MI Module Integration

HIC Horizontal Informal Communication

PF Personal Feedback

SAP Students' Academic Performance

HEI Higher Education Institution

SNS Social Network Site

MCMC Malaysian Communications and Multimedia Commission

ERT Emotional Response Theory

GPA Grade Point Average

ICT Information and Communication Technology

OCC Out-of-Class Communication

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Social media dominates emerging pedagogical methods and systems, with information and communication systems creatively incorporate social media into everyday technology use. According to Arnold and Paulus (2010) and Junco, Helbergert, and Loken (2011), social media includes various web-based tools and services to facilitate community development through user interaction and information sharing. In other words, personal interactions and connections with other users are obtained from social media, which include forums, wikis, and media (audio, image, video, text). Resource sharing, networking (including Facebook, Instagram), and virtual worlds are other sorts of interactions and connections (Arnold & Paulus, 2010). With this advancement, current studies showed that using social media as an educational tool led to increased student engagement (Collins & Halverson, 2018; Saha, & Karpinski, 2018; Johnson, Becker, Cummins, Estrada, Freeman, & Hall, 2016),

Furthermore, most lecturers and students are familiar with using digital media, specifically, Facebook for personal (informal communication) and impersonal (formal or team communication) use (Cunha Jr., van Oers, & Kontopodis, 2016). Nevertheless, the familiarity of lecturers with Facebook's use of personal and impersonal communities opens up the possibility of an emotional interaction and communication skills with their students. Several studies demonstrated Facebook's educational potential through lecturer-student engagement, albeit there were still research gaps needed to address students' emotional interaction and communication skills with their lecturer in using Facebook (Manca & Ranieri, 2017). Therefore, this introductory chapter presents the current study through a brief description of the study, the problem statement, research questions, objectives, and implications.

Background of the Study

Education innovations related to computers such as forums, wikis, websites, instant messaging, Facebook, and Twitter have become widely used and well-known in the higher education industry (Alshayeb, 2018). Founded in 2004, the primary mission of Facebook is "to open up and connect the world." Users use Facebook to stay in touch with friends and their families, find out what is happening in the world, and share what matters to them (Facebook Newsroom, n.d.). Al-Rahmi, Othman, and Yusuf (2015) confirmed that Facebook had improved the learning and teaching process through past studies. In like manner, Sobaih, Moustafa, Ghandforoush, and Khan (2016) have suggested that students' ability to understand is enhanced by teaching on Facebook. Besides, they emphasised that teaching methods based on technology are more prevalent, rewarding, and students are better than conventional teaching methods.

Given the technology and electronic media teaching, Hagenauer, Gläser-Zikuda, and Volet (2016) said that the lecturer-student relationship is the cornerstone in educational, social, and emotional success learning. Conceptualising the students' relationships with lecturers, Reichert, Chen, and Torney-Purta (2018) pointed out that three components shape the relationships between lecturers and students; expectations and attitudes, information exchange, and external influence. Within today's digital age, these components are particularly relevant in the rise of social networking sites like Facebook. In other words, Facebook has expanded the world in which lecturers can use personal and impersonal profiles and have profoundly changed the very nature of students' interaction. As a result, this could potentially affect students' shared expectations, emotional commitment, and communication skills.

Given this point, Facebook's introduction and use raise some interesting questions about the Facebook relationship between lecturers and students and the impact they have on off-line interactions between lecturers and students and vice versa. The study has shown that Facebook unquestionably used continuously constructs on young people's identity and the network of physical connections (Baym, 2015). Besides, on Facebook, the word 'family' is used to identify users in one's system of networks. However, this concept is challenging when discourse about Facebook contact between lecturers and students, since there is the hierarchy of formal lecturers/students in the physical world, where lecturers usually have a certain amount of power over their students (Goodwin et al., 2016). Even though the lecturer has a specific span of control, the degree of proximity and affection in Facebook is different from the real world. Facebook can undo the traditional hierarchy in the classrooms and inspire both students and lecturers (Sobaih et al., 2016).

Although this may be true, Mazer, Murphy, and Simonds (2007) stated that students judged lecturers in the classroom more favourably than students who viewed the lecturer's Facebook page with the minimal level of self-disclosures. Students who regarded a lecturer's Facebook page with a high self-disclosure level also saw the lecturers as trustworthy. Understanding their lecturers' personality on Facebook for some students is the main inspiration for increasing their academic success. Therefore, how students perceived lecturers' self-disclosures on Facebook may positively affect lecturers' evaluations and student outcomes. Nevertheless, the characteristics of self-disclosure of lecturers need to be further analysed because of the recent addition of interest (positivity/negativity) and importance (high/low) of personal and impersonal self-disclosure the lecturer. Nevertheless, Reece and Reece (2016) found that personal and impersonal self-disclosure has a significant effect on the students' motivation, the consistency of the lecturers, and the lecturer's competence in various ways.

Indeed, according to Berscheid, Collins, and Reis (2017), the process of self-disclosure usually leads to the formation of personal relations. Lecturers tend to be actively maintaining their privacy while disclosing information to students due to the particular aspects of the relationship between lecturers and students. Mazer et al. (2007) clarify that self-disclosure of lecturers varies from personal to impersonal. For instance, personal self-disclosures are more illustrative than impersonal self-

disclosures (Goodwin et al., 2016). Early research in this manner found that students who customise the classroom environment through humour, context, excitement, and self-disclosure were considered to be successful in explaining the content of the courses (Reichert et al., 2018). Yet, new social media technologies have changed the overall contact climate between lecturers and students compared to physical interaction in the world.

More significant than that, the personal and impersonal self-revelation of lecturers on Facebook facilitates communication and coordination between the students and can increase students' emotional engagement and communication satisfaction. Researchers are also interested in explaining the effect of students' perceived intensity of lecturers' self-disclosure in personal and impersonal Facebook accounts, students' emotional engagement, lecturer-student communication satisfaction, and students' academic performance.

Several empirical studies (e,g, Lau, 2017; Rosli, Saleh, Aris, Ahmad, Sejzi & Shamsudin, 2016) have examined whether these impacts are positive, neutral, or negative. In this case, little is being thought about students' emotional engagement, lecturer-students communication satisfaction and students' academic performances in linking them with their lecturers' personal and impersonal Facebook account. Thus, the aspect of emotions being investigated in this study is the feelings of pleasure, arousal, and dominance, leading students to enact approach or avoidance behaviours towards communicating with their lecturer. Subsequently, this study would look at the differences between Students' Perceived Intensity of Lecturers' Self-Disclosure (SPLSD), Students' Emotional Engagement (SEE), Student-lecturer Communication Satisfaction (SCS), and Students' Academic Performances (SAP) in the lecturers' personal and impersonal Facebook account.

Problem Statement

Facebook, the most popular social media, play a vital role as an educational tool. The impact of personal and impersonal lecturers' Facebook account access on students' perceived intensity of lecturers' self-disclosure, student-lecturer communication satisfaction, students' emotional engagement, and academic performances has not been extensively researched in Malaysia.

Lecturers are aware of the required behaviours to maintain a professional environment in the classroom (Ellis, 2018). Nevertheless, the technical limits are shattered when the corporation and understanding between lecturer and students are moved out of the classroom (Balakrishnan, Teoh, Pourshafie & Liew, 2017). The researchers said that lecturers are more likely to disclose information about their personal life when interacting with students outside the classroom. According to Rosli et al. (2016), while lecturers are well aware of the risk associated with their disclosure in the university environment, this awareness can decrease if contact is transferred outside the

institution. Perhaps the most noticeable aspect of this confounding professional relationship between lecturer and student is on the Internet, for example, Facebook.

Although many different media styles have been used for teaching purposes, for example, the forum, Wikipedia, and website for online courses, social media can be useful instruments for promoting teaching. Among the many social networks, Facebook has created a large user community and is popular with students and lecturers (Balakrishnan et al., 2017). Evidence shows that Facebook is increasingly suitable for interaction between lecturers and students (Mahmud, Ramachandiran & Ismail, 2016). However, as soon as the lecturers accepted their student's request as a Facebook friend, their students have access to all their social activities on Facebook. As Moghavvemi, Paramanathan, Rahin, and Sharabati (2017) said, the student could view all their lecturers' events and personal lives. The lecturers' profiles can describe appropriate and inappropriate content when they take account of the professional role of lecturers in personal and impersonal Facebook's account (Mahmud et al. 2016). This scenario might positively or negatively impact student perceived intensity of lecturers' self-disclosure in personal and impersonal Facebook account, students' emotional engagement and student-lecturer communication satisfaction, and student academic performance.

Although this may be true, lecturers should maintain their professional conduct in the classroom. There is increasing demand form the university's management to maintain their professional behavior on their social media and communication between students. If lecturers are friends with their students on Facebook, they may be exposed to personal information they would otherwise not have learned. While several researchers (e.g., Froment, García González et al., 2017; Al Ghamdi, 2017) report the importance of self-disclosure in classroom lecturer-student relations, few researchers (e.g., Mazer et al., 2007; Mahmud et al., 2016), have investigated the effect of lecturer self-disclosure on the lecturer/student relationship outside the classroom.

Numerous scholars (e.g., Anderson, Fagan, Woodnutt, & Chamorro-Premuzic, 2012; Wise, Alhabash, & Park, 2010) tried to understand the motive behind a Facebook personal and impersonal action of the lecturers. Most of the studies found that the function of a student's emotional engagement and lecturer-student relationship satisfaction and students' academic performance were not disclosed or discussed extensively. Most of the past studies only centered on lecturer self-disclosure on Facebook and on the dedication to relationships to improve student academic performance to increase relationship engagement at the individual level. Nevertheless, it is still vital to correctly explore whether students perceived intensity of lecturers' self-disclosure on personal and impersonal Facebook accounts beneficial or harmful to students' emotional involvement and lecturer-student communication satisfaction.

As an illustration, there is conceptual and empirical research done in Malaysia previously in social media and students' academic performance. To name a few, the presence of social media and classrooms (Mahmud et al. 2016), the satisfaction of contact through e-mail among academics and students (Anumudu, Yasin, Akmar, &

Latif 2018), expectations of students about how to use e-learning on Facebook (Mobhavvemi et al. 2017) and factors that drive e-learning between higher education students (Balakrishnan et al., 2017). Although the mentioned studies provide some evidence of an assessment on Facebook of lecturer and student interactions in Malaysia, none of them has exclusively explored the trend, dimension, and effects in the domain on the impact of lecturers' personal and impersonal Facebook account access towards student perceived intensity of lecturers' self-disclosure, students' emotional engagement, lecturer-student communication satisfaction and students' academic performance.

Thus, there is a gap in the literature on the student's emotional engagement, students' academic performance, student-lecturer communication satisfaction, and student perceived intensity of lecturers' self-disclosure in personal and impersonal lecturers' Facebook account. In light of this argument, the purpose of this study is to investigate the student perceived intensity of lecturer self-disclosure in personal and impersonal lecturers' Facebook account, which is a contact activity that differs from lecturers' social expectations. The research will review the literature that explores students' social expectations, lecturer self-disclosure expectations, and self-disclosure outcomes to place the circumstance within the broader discussion of the lecturer and students' expected behaviour and how students perceived them. Subsequently, it is strongly recommended to provide an integrated platform for research into students' perception of the intensity of lecturer self-disclosure in personal and impersonal lecturers' Facebook to enhance student emotional engagement, student-lecturer communication satisfaction, and students' academic performance.

Research Questions

In addressing a research problem, Creswell and Creswell (2017) suggest that an inclusive approach is needed. As such, to achieve the above objectives, the present study attempts to answer the following research question:

- 1. What is the level of Students' Perceived Intensity of Lecturers' Self-disclosure (SPILSD) in personal and impersonal lecturers' Facebook account access?
- 2. What is the level of Students' Emotional Engagement (SEE) in personal and impersonal lecturers' Facebook account access?
- 3. What is the level of Student-lecturer Communication Satisfaction (SCS) in personal and impersonal lecturers' Facebook account access?
- 4. What is the level of Students' Academic Performances (SAP) in personal and impersonal lecturers' Facebook account access?
- 5. What are the differences in pre-test and post-test of Students' Perceived Intensity of Lecturers' Self-Disclosure (SPILSD) in personal and impersonal lecturers' Facebook account mode?
- 6. What are the differences in pre-test and post-test of Students' Emotional Engagement (SEE) in personal and impersonal lecturers' Facebook account mode?

- 7. What are the differences in pre-test and post-test of Student-lecturer Communication Satisfaction (SCS) in personal and impersonal lecturers' Facebook account mode?
- 8. What are the differences in pre-test and post-test of Students' Academic Performances (SAP) in personal and impersonal lecturers' Facebook account mode?
- 9. What are the differences in Students' Perceived Intensity of Lecturers' Self-Disclosure (SPILSD), after using personal and impersonal lecturers' Facebook account mode?
- 10. What are the differences in Students' Emotional Engagement (SEE) after using personal and impersonal lecturers' Facebook account mode?
- 11. What are the differences in Student-lecturer Communication Satisfaction (SCS) and after using personal and impersonal lecturers' Facebook account mode?
- 12. What are the differences in Students' Academic Performances (SAP) after using personal and impersonal lecturers' Facebook account mode?

Research Objectives

General Objective:

This study's general objective is to identify the differences of impact in lecturers' personal and impersonal Facebook account access on the students' perceived intensity of lecturers' self-disclosure, students' emotional engagement, student-lecturer communication satisfaction, and students' academic performances.

Specific Objectives:

- 1. To describe the level of Students' Perceived Intensity of Lecturers' Self-Disclosure (SPLSD) in personal and impersonal lecturers' Facebook account.
- 2. To illustrate the level of Students' Emotional Engagement (SEE) in personal and impersonal lecturers' Facebook account.
- 3. To describe the level of Student-lecturer Communication Satisfaction (SCS) in personal and impersonal lecturers' Facebook account.
- 4. To illustrate the level of Students' Academic Performances (SAP) in personal and impersonal lecturers' Facebook account.
- 5. To define the difference between pre-test and post-test of Students' Perceived Intensity of Lecturers' Self-Disclosure (SPLSD) in personal and impersonal lecturers' Facebook account.
- 6. To determine the difference between pre-test and post-test of Students' Emotional Engagement (SEE) in personal and impersonal lecturers' Facebook account.
- 7. To define the difference between pre-test and post-test of Student-lecturer Communication Satisfaction (SCS) in personal and impersonal lecturers' Facebook account.

- 8. To explain the difference between pre-test and post-test of Students' Academic Performances (SAP) in personal and impersonal lecturers' Facebook account.
- 9. To identify the differences in Students' Perceived Intensity of Lecturers' Self-Disclosure (SPILSD), after using personal and impersonal lecturers' Facebook account mode?
- 10. To determine the differences in Students' Emotional Engagement (SEE) after using personal and impersonal lecturers' Facebook account mode?
- 11. To illustrate the differences in Student-lecturer Communication Satisfaction (SCS) and after using personal and impersonal lecturers' Facebook account mode?
- 12. To determine the differences in Students' Academic Performances (SAP) after using personal and impersonal lecturers' Facebook account mode?

The scope of the Study

This research examines the students' perceived intensity of lecturers' self-disclosure in the personal and impersonal lecturers' Facebook account, students' emotional engagement, Student-lecturer communication satisfaction, and students' academic performances. The unit of analysis in this study is the students of Malaysia's private higher education institution, precisely Sunway University. The study's scope is on the impact of lecturers' personal and impersonal Facebook account access by students, which is used as a tool of communication between students and lecturer. The researcher determined the participants' characteristic, namely, on the programmes that they enrolled, which is Bachelors in Communication, age between 18 to 24 years old, and connected with lecturers via Facebook. The duration of this study is 14 weeks, which is a complete one semester of their studies.

Limitation of the Study

Neuman (2016) states that any study has limitations. Although this study aims to contribute significantly towards the theory, literature, methodology, and practices of students' perceived intensity of lecturer's self-disclosure, students' emotional engagement, student-lecturer communication satisfaction, and students' academic performances in lecturers' personal and impersonal Facebook account access. The findings and implications might inevitably have limitations too.

Students who are friends with their lecturer via personal and impersonal Facebook account access is limited to only two groups. However, the result would have been comprehensive if more groups were included and their communication satisfaction, emotional engagement, the perceived intensity of lecturers' self-disclosure, and academic performance were compared in a larger group in different departments or schools within the University. Therefore, a study that makes it possible to analyse this issue is introduced in further studies.

A quantitative quasi-experiment method is used to quantify students' perception and evaluation of the lecturers' personal and impersonal Facebook account access. Student self-reporting answer regarding the Facebook impact on their communication satisfaction, emotional engagement, the perceived intensity of lecturers' self-disclosure, and academic performance is mainly the topic of this research, which highly depends on their perceptions and opinions. Thus, the qualitative approach, an in-depth interview, will also provide rewarding analysis to other researchers.

Facebook can play a double function in applications overall. A student or lecturer's personal Facebook page become more public in general, in school-related issues (connection with other students, details needed to start at a college, etc.). Many lecturers (especially the younger) also have a Facebook account that can be generated for personal purposes and accessed by their students. Chapter 5 of this study will address other drawbacks of this research.

Significance of the Study

This study contributes to the awareness of students' perceived intensity of lecturers' self-disclosure in lecturers' Facebook account, the academic performance of students, the emotional engagement of students, and the lecturer-student communication satisfaction in linking with the lecturers' personal and impersonal Facebook account access, a subject extensively researched around the world and still in its infancy in Malaysia.

It is anticipated that the results obtained would add to the wealth of information currently available on Facebook. The impact of personal and impersonal lecturers' Facebook account access on students' perceived intensity of lecturers' self-disclosure, students emotionally engagement, student-lecturer communication satisfaction, and students' academic performances is an added value for policymakers, development practitioners, service providers, current users, and potential users in the education sector. Hence, this research's output can contribute to these endeavours by creating awareness at the university level of education.

Facebook, in general, is viewed as a distraction to students' academic achievement. This study would provide information on the impact of personal and impersonal lecturers' Facebook account access to students and how it can be used in relation to their academics. In addition, the findings of the study are expected to contribute towards bridging the existing literature gap on understanding the obstacles and opportunities of Facebook in the academic environment.

Definition of the key terms

For this research, the following definitions are provided to ensure the commonly varied definition is defined in terms used within this research.

Facebook

Facebook is a social networking website that permits people to build their profiles and connect friends, family, and business associates. Facebook allows users to construct their profiles and set privacy settings for those who are allowed to view their profiles (Kaplan & Haenlein, 2010). On the other hand, users can express themselves and communicate freely with peers through Facebook. In addition, this website gives users a simple way to build social networking, make new friends, and stay up-to-date with old friends (Kendall et al., 2018). For this study, Facebook is, therefore described as an online social networking website. Students and lecturers create profiles, share information such as photos and quotes, and react or connect to other data and use it as an educational tool in private universities.

Lecturers Personal Facebook Account

An account that lecturers connected with their friends and family and further added their students as friends too. The lecturers' profile discloses their personal information and identity (Rambaree & Knez, 2017). Furthermore, the lecturers' use the personal Facebook account as a platform to communicate with the students outside classroom activities by posting academic-related materials. The students, as a Facebook friend, able to read the lecturers' wall that contains all of their messages and thoughts (Chau & Lee, 2017) and able to view all the lecturer's personal/family photos and gather some insight on their lecturer's lifestyle.

Therefore, for this study, lecturers' personal Facebook account is defined as a Facebook account which a lecturer post and communication among family and friends and discloses their personal information and identity without hesitation and uses this to connect with their students too.

Lecturers' Impersonal Facebook account

Lecturers' impersonal Facebook account is merely an account created just for academic purposes and to stay connected with the students apart of the in-classroom activities (Sadowski, Pediaditis, & Townsend, 2017). In this account, the lecturer basically will share educational relevant materials, such as study notes, PowerPoint slides, e-books, etc. Conversely, the lecturer will not share any of his/her personal notes or photos outside of the academic discussion (Henschke, 2017).

Therefore, for this study, a lecturers' impersonal Facebook account is defined as a Facebook account created by a lecturer to post and communicate with students about academic-related matters outside of classroom hours.

Students' Perceived Intensity of Lecturers' Self-Disclosure

Lecturers' self-disclosure in the Facebook account can be understood as revealing information about themself that may or may not be related to the subject content. According to Sorensen 1989, lecturers reveal information about themselves that students are unlikely to learn from other sources.

Students' Emotional Engagement

Groccia (2018) describes student emotional engagement as the level of attention, enthusiasm, interest, excitement, and passion that students display when they learn or are taught to the degree of motivation and success in learning. Throughout recent decades, on the other hand, the engagement of students is growing in popularity, mostly because of an increased understanding of the role of certain cognitive, psychological, behavioural, physical, and social factors in education and social development. (Garrosa, Blanco-Donoso, Carmona-Cobo, & Moreno-Jiménez, 2017). Therefore, for this study, student emotional engagement involves interest, boredom, happiness, anxiety, and other affective states within the dimension of pleasure, arousal, and dominance.

Student-Lecturer Communication Satisfaction

The satisfaction of student-lecturer interaction is the primary form of communication between two individuals. This involves daily interchange, which can occur formally or informally anywhere, through words, tones, facial expressions, movements, and postures (Karnieli-Miller, Michael, Segal, & Steinberger, 2018). During communication between students and lecturers, there are interactions between two or more people, which means sending and receiving messages. This scenario is perfect and efficient because it can provide immediate feedback (Nesi, Widman, Choukas-Bradley & Prinstein, 2017). Therefore, this study, student-lecturer satisfaction with communication, is defined as the process by which feelings, ideas, thoughts, information, and emotions are expressed and generally take the form of a message or verbal or non-verbal communication.

Students' Academic Performance

According to Erwin, Fedewa, and Ahn (2017), academic performance is expressed to the performance level that a student is ready to achieve specific targets of exercises in educational conditions, particularly in school, college, or university. In contrast, Bunce, Baird, and Jones (2017) defined academic performance as an intellectual

objective in educational frameworks. The framework characterised either through the size of learning picked up, which can be called attention by assessment, examination point, test scores, and grade point average (GPA). Therefore, in this study's context, academic performance is expressed to study the performance results that demonstrate the degree to which the student has achieved and measured in Average Point.

Chapter Summary

The structure of the thesis and the theme of the study was introduced in this introduction. The research background was discussed, and the research issue was identified. The specific research questions that take the goals of this research into account have been expressed. Ultimately, the potential advantages resulting from this study, the scope of the research, and the research's inherent limitations are discussed. The following chapter discusses the literature briefly and explores the essence of the growth of student emotional engagement, student-lecturer satisfaction, academic achievement, and self-disclosure by lecturers on personal and impersonal Facebook accounts as the main focus of this review. The next chapter addresses the underlying theory and concept of students' emotional engagement and perceptions, student-lecturer satisfactions, student academic performance, and lecturer self-disclosure on personal and impersonal lecturers' Facebook account.

REFERENCES

- Aharony, N. (2016). Relationships among attachment theory, social capital perspective, personality characteristics, and Facebook self-disclosure. *Aslib Journal of Information Management*, 68(3), 362-386.
- Aharony, N., & Gazit, T. (2016). The importance of the WhatsApp family group: an exploratory analysis. *Aslib Journal of Information Management*, 68(2), 174-192.
- Ainley, M., & Ainley, J. (2011). Student engagement with science in early adolescence: The contribution of enjoyment to students' continuing interest in learning about science. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 36(1), 4-12.
- Al Ghamdi, A. (2017). The influence of lecturer text-based immediacy on student engagement experiences and learning outcomes in distance education in Saudi Arabia (Doctoral dissertation, Victoria University).
- Al-mehsin, S. A., 2017. Self-Efficacy and Its Relationship with Social Skills and the Quality of Decision-Making among the Students of Prince Sattam Bin Abdul-Aziz University. International Education Studies, 10 (7), pp. 108-117.
- Al-Rahmi, W., Othman, M. S., & Yusuf, L. M. (2015). The role of social media for collaborative learning to improve academic performance of students and researchers in Malaysian higher education. *The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 16(4).
- Alshayeb, M. (2018). Promoting student engagement using social media technologies. In the 6th International Conference on Information Technology in Education (ICITE 2018), Dubai, UAE (pp. 95-105).
- Altman, I., & Taylor, D. A. (1973). Social penetration: The development of interpersonal relationships. Holt, Rinehart & Winston.
- Amichai-Hamburger, Y., & Vinitzky, G. (2010). Social network use and personality. *Computers in human behavior*, 26(6), 1289-1295.
- Anderson, B., Fagan, P., Woodnutt, T., & Chamorro-Premuzic, T. (2012). Facebook psychology: Popular questions answered by research. *Psychology of Popular Media Culture*, *1*(1), 23.
- Anumudu, C. E., Yasin, M. I., Akmar, A. G., & Latif, M. P. (2018). A Review on the Efficacy of Immediacy Factors towards Achieving Communication Satisfaction via Email among Academic Staff. *Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences*, 9(3), 233.
- Appleton, J. J., Christenson, S. L., & Furlong, M. J. (2008). Student engagement with school: Critical conceptual and methodological issues of the construct. *Psychology in the Schools*, 45(5), 369-386.
- Archambault, I., Janosz, M., Fallu, J. S., & Pagani, L. S. (2009). Student engagement and its relationship with early high school dropout. *Journal of adolescence*, 32(3), 651-670.

- Arends, J. (2014, January 21). "Just collecting data for the white guys": Community impacts of service-learning in Africa. [Web log comment]. Retrieved from http://globalsl.org/just-collecting-data-white-guyscommunity-impacts-service-learning-africa/.
- Atieno, O. P. (2009). An analysis of the strengths and limitation of qualitative and quantitative research paradigms. *Problems of Education in the 21st Century*, 13(1), 13-38.
- Baek, K., Holton, A., Harp, D., & Yaschur, C. (2011). The links that bind: Uncovering novel motivations for linking on Facebook. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 27(6), 2243-2248.
- Balakrishnan, V., Teoh, K. K., Pourshafie, T., & Liew, T. K. (2017). Social media and their use in learning: A comparative analysis between Australia and Malaysia from the learners' perspectives. *Australasian Journal of Educational Technology*, 33(1).
- Bandekar, B., Yitbarek, E. M., Lopez, K., Tran, C., & Momoh, E. (2018). Social Media: Effect, Affect, Teens, and Possible Addiction. Collin College Undergraduate Interdisciplinary Student Research Conference. 2. Retrieved from https://digitalcommons.collin.edu/ccuisrc/2018/thursday/2
- Bareket-Bojmel, L., Moran, S., & Shahar, G. (2016). Strategic self-presentation on Facebook: Personal motives and audience response to online behavior. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 55, 788-795.
- Bayer, J., Ellison, N., Schoenebeck, S., Brady, E., & Falk, E. B. (2018). Facebook in context (s): Measuring emotional responses across time and space. *New media & society*, 20(3), 1047-1067.
- Baym, N. K. (2015). Personal connections in the digital age. John Wiley & Sons Inc.
- Beebe, S. A., & Biggers, T. (1986). Trait emotion and emotional response. Communication Research Reports, 3, 47–52.
- Beer, D. D. (2008). Social network (ing) sites... revisiting the story so far: A response to danah boyd & Nicole Ellison. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, 13(2), 516-529.
- Berscheid, E., Collins, W. A., & Reis, H. T. (2017). The Relationship Context of Human Behavior and Development. In *Interpersonal Development* (pp. 3-31). Routledge.
- Biggers, T., & Rankis, O. F. (1983). Dominance—submissiveness as an effective response to situations and as a predictor of approach—avoidance. Social Behavior and Personality, 11, 61–69. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.2224/sbp.1983.11.2.61
- Borgatti, S. P., Everett, M. G., & Johnson, J. C. (2018). *Analyzing social networks*. Sage publication .

- Boyd, D. (2007). Why youth (heart) social network sites: The role of networked publics in teenage social life. *MacArthur foundation series on digital learning—Youth, identity, and digital media volume, 119*, 142.
- Boyd, D. M., & Ellison, N. B. (2007). Social network sites: Definition, history, and scholarship. *Journal of computer-mediated Communication*, *13*(1), 210-230.
- Boztepe, Ö. (2016). The adaptation of student communication satisfaction scale into Turkish culture. *International Journal of Educational Research Review*, 2(1), 27-33.
- Bryant, J., Comiskey, P. W., Crane, J. S., & Zillman, D. (1980). Relationships between college teachers' use of humor in the classroom and students' evaluation of their teachers. Journal of Educational Psychology, 72, 511!519.
- Bunce, L., Baird, A., & Jones, S. E. (2017). The student-as-consumer approach in higher education and its effects on academic performance. *Studies in Higher Education*, 42(11), 1958-1978.
- Burgoon, J. K., & LePoire, B. A. (1999). Nonverbal cues and interpersonal judgments: Participant and observer perceptions of intimacy, dominance, composure, and formality. Communication Monographs, 66, 105–124. doi: 10.1080=03637759909376467
- Cain, J. (2008). Online social networking issues within academia and pharmacy education. *American journal of pharmaceutical education*, 72(1), 10.
- Carney, D. R., Hall, J. A., & LeBeau, L. S. (2005). Beliefs about the nonverbal expression of social power. Journal of Nonverbal Behavior, 29, 105–123. doi: 10.1007=s10919-005-2743-z
- Carpenter, J. M., Green, M. C., & LaFlam, J. (2011). People or profiles: Individual differences in online social networking use. *Personality and individual differences*, 50(5), 538-541.
- Casey, K., Casey, M., & Griffin, K. (2018, October). Academic integrity in the online environment: Teaching strategies and software that encourage ethical behaviour. In *Institute for Global Business Research Conference Proceedings*, 2 (3) (pp. 58-66).
- Cayanus, J. L. (2004). Effective instructional practice: Using teacher self-disclosure as an instructional tool. *Communication Teacher*, 18(1), 6-9.
- Cayanus, J. L., & Martin, M. M. (2002, November). Development of a teacher self-disclosure scale. In *meeting of the National Communication Association, Atlanta, GA*.
- Cayanus, J. L., & Martin, M. M. (2004). An instructor self-disclosure scale. *Communication Research Reports*, 21(3), 252-263.
- Chau, D., & Lee, C. (2017). Discursive construction of identities in a social network-educational space: Insights from an undergraduate Facebook group for a linguistics course. Discourse, context & media, 18, 31-39.

- Cheung, C. M., Chiu, P. Y., & Lee, M. K. (2011). Online social networks: Why do students use facebook? *Computers in Human Behavior*, 27(4), 1337-1343.
- Chory, R. M. (2007). Enhancing student perceptions of fairness: The relationship between instructor credibility and classroom justice. Communication Education, 56, 89–105. doi: 10.1080=03634520600994300
- Chory-Assad, R. M. (2002). Classroom justice: Perceptions of fairness as a predictor of student motivation, learning, and aggression. Communication Quarterly, 50, 58–77. doi: 10.1080=01463370209385646
- Chory-Assad, R. M., & Paulsel, M. L. (2004). Antisocial classroom communication: Instructor influence and interactional justice as predictors of student aggression. Communication Quarterly, 52, 98–114. doi: 10.1080=01463370409370184
- Christ, W. G., & Biggers, T. (1984). An exploratory investigation into the relationship between television program preference and emotion-eliciting qualities—A new theoretical perspective. Western Journal of Speech Communication, 48, 293–307. doi: 10.1080=10570318409374163
- Clark, R. C., & Mayer, R. E. (2016). *E-learning and the science of instruction: Proven guidelines for consumers and designers of multimedia learning*. John Wiley & Sons Inc.
- Cleland, J., Foster, K. and Moffat, M., 2005. Undergraduate Students' Attitudes to Communication Skills Learning Differ Depending on Year of Study and Gender. Medical Teacher, 27 (3), pp. 246-251.
- Cohen, A. D., & Macaro, E. (2007). Language learner strategies: Thirty years of research and practice (No. Sirsi) i9780194422543).
- Cohen, L., Manion, L. & Morrison, K. (2007). Research Methods in Education. (5th ed.) London: Routledge Falmer
- Cohen, L., Manion, L., & Morrison, K. (1994). Educational research methodology. *Athens: Metaixmio*.
- Coley, T. (2006). Students and cyber communities. *University of South Carolina*.
- Collins, A., & Halverson, R. (2018). *Rethinking education in the age of technology:*The digital revolution and schooling in America. Teachers College Press.
- Colquitt, J. A., Conlon, D. E., Wesson, M. J., Porter, C. O. L. H., & Ng, K. Y. (2001). Justice at the millennium: A meta-analytic review of 25 years of organizational justice research. Journal of Applied Psychology, 86, 425–445. doi: 10.1037=0021-9010.86.3.425
- Conley, N. A., & Ah Yun, K. (2017). A survey of instructional communication research: 15 years of research in review. Communication Education, 66, 451–466. doi:10.1080/03634523.2017. 1348611
- Conley, N. A., & Ah Yun, K. (2017). A survey of instructional communication: 15 years of research in review. *Communication Education*, 66(4), 451-466.

- Connell, J. P., & Wellborn, J. G. (1994). Competence, autonomy, and relatedness: A motivational analysis of self-system processes. In M. R. Gunnar & L. A. Sroufe (Eds.), Self-processes in development: Minnesota Symposium on Child Psychology (Vol. 23, pp. 43–77). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum
- Creswell, J. W. (2009). Research design: Qualitative and mixed methods approaches. *London and Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications*.
- Creswell, J. W., & Clark, V. L. P. (2017). *Designing and conducting mixed methods research*. Sage publications.
- Cunha Jr, F. R. D., van Kruistum, C., & van Oers, B. (2016). Teachers and Facebook: using online groups to improve students' communication and engagement in education. *Communication Teacher*, 30(4), 228-241.
- Dalto, C. A., Ajzen, I., & Kaplan, K. J. (1979). Self-disclosure and attraction: Effects of intimacy and desirability on beliefs and attitudes. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 13(2), 127-138.
- Dawes, J. (2008). Do data characteristics change according to the number of scale points used? An experiment using 5-point, 7-point and 10-point scales. *International journal of market research*, 50(1), 61-104.
- de-Marcos, L., Garcia-Lopez, E., & Garcia-Cabot, A. (2016). On the effectiveness of game-like and social approaches in learning: Comparing educational gaming, gamification & social networking. *Computers & Education*, 95, 99-113.
- DeVito, J. A. (2012). The interpersonal communication book. Pearson Higher Ed.
- DiVerniero, R. A., & Hosek, A. M. (2011). Students' perceptions and communicative management of instructors' online self-disclosure. *Communication Quarterly*, 59(4), 428-449.
- Dobransky, N. D., & Frymier, A. B. (2004). Developing teacher-student relationships through out of class communication. *Communication Quarterly*, 52(3), 211-223.
- Downs, C. W., & Hazen, M. D. (1977). A factor analytic study of communication satisfaction. *The Journal of Business Communication* (1973), 14(3), 63-73.
- eBizMBA (2014). Retrieved from www//.eBizMBA.com
- Edwards, A. (2009). Risk communication—making evidence part of patient choices. Shared decision-making in health care: Achieving evidence-based patient choice, 135-142.
- Edwards, B. I., Aris, B. A., & Shukor, N. A. (2015). Digitally Speaking: Multitasking and the Future of Digital Language for Academic Communication. *LSP International Journal*, 2(2).
- Efendioğlu, A. (2018). Teachers' use of Facebook and teacher quality: developing a 'Facebook Effect Scale on Teacher Quality (FESTQ)'from the perspective of PCK, TPACK, and lifelong learning frameworks. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 66(6), 1359-1385.

- Eid, M., 2012. Expectations of Self-efficacy and its Relationship with Selfconfidence and Social Skills among university students in Saudi Arabia. Journal of the Faculty of Education: Mansoura University, 81.
- Ellis, R. (2018). A British standard for university teaching? In *Handbook of Quality Assurance for University Teaching* (pp. 66-82). Routledge.
- Ellison, N. B., Steinfield, C., & Lampe, C. (2007). The benefits of Facebook "friends:" Social capital and college students' use of online social network sites. *Journal of computer-mediated communication*, 12(4), 1143-1168.
- Embi, M. A., and Hwang, D. (2007). Approaches employed by secondary schools' teachers to teaching the literature component in English, *Jurnal Pendidik dan Pendidikan*, 22, p. 1-23.
- Erwin, H., Fedewa, A., & Ahn, S. (2017). Student academic performance outcomes of a classroom physical activity intervention: A pilot study. *International Electronic Journal of Elementary Education*, 4(3), 473-487.
- Facebook Newsroom. n.d. http://newsroom.fb.com/content/default.aspx?NewsAreaId= 22/
- Feng, S., Wong, Y. K., Wong, L. Y., & Hossain, L. (2019). The Internet and Facebook Usage on Academic Distraction of College Students. *Computers & Education*, 134, 41-49.
- Fraenkel, J. R., & Wallen, N. E. (2003). Observation and interviewing. *How to design* and evaluate research in education, 5, 455-463.
- Frank, C., Land, W. M., & Schack, T. (2016). Perceptual-cognitive changes during motor learning: The influence of mental and physical practice on mental representation, gaze behavior, and performance of a complex action. *Frontiers in psychology*, *6*, 1981.
- Fredricks, J. A., Blumenfeld, P. C., & Paris, A. H. (2004). School engagement: Potential of the concept, state of the evidence. *Review of educational research*, 74(1), 59-109.
- French, J. R. P., & Raven, B. (1968). The bases for social power. In D. Cartwright (Ed.), Studies in social power (pp. 150–167). Ann Arbor, MI: University of Michigan Press.
- Frenzel, A. C., Thrash, T. M., Pekrun, R., & Goetz, T. (2007). Achievement emotions in Germany and China: A cross-cultural validation of the Academic Emotions Questionnaire—Mathematics. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology*, 38(3), 302-309.
- Froment, F., García González, A. J., & Bohórquez, M. R. (2017). The Use of Social Networks as a Communication Tool between Teachers and Students: A Literature Review. *Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology-TOJET*, 16(4), 126-144.

- Frymier, A. B., & Shulman, G. M. (1995). "What's in it for me?": Increasing content relevance to enhance students' motivation. *Communication Education*, 44(1), 40-50.
- Furrer, C., & Skinner, E. (2003). Sense of relatedness as a factor in children's academic engagement and performance. *Journal of educational psychology*, 95(1), 148.
- Fusani, D. S. (1994). "Extra-class" communication: Frequency, immediacy, self-disclosure, and satisfaction in student-faculty interaction outside the classroom.
- Gaffney-Rhys, R., & Jones, J. (2008). Reflections on the UK National Student Survey: A Business and Management case study.
- Garrosa, E., Blanco-Donoso, L. M., Carmona-Cobo, I., & Moreno-Jiménez, B. (2017). How do curiosity, meaning in life, and search for meaning predict college students' daily emotional exhaustion and engagement? *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 18(1), 17-40.
- Gay, L. R., & Airasian, P. (2003). Educational research: Consequences for analysis and applications.
- Glover, D. and Law, S. (2002). *Improving learning: Professional practice in secondary school*, Buckingham: Open University Press.
- Goldman, Z. W., & Goodboy, A. K. (2014). Making students feel better: Examining the relationships between teacher confirmation and college students' emotional outcomes. Communication Education, 63, 259–277. doi:10.1080/03634523.2014.920091
- Goldstein, G. S., & Benassi, V. A. (1994). The relation between teacher self-disclosure and student classroom participation. *Teaching of psychology*, 21(4), 212-217.
- Goodwin, I., Griffin, C., Lyons, A., McCreanor, T., & Moewaka Barnes, H. (2016). Precarious popularity: Facebook drinking photos, the attention economy, and the regime of the branded self. *Social Media+ Society*, 2(1), 2056305116628889.
- Gorghiu, G., Drăghicescu, L. M., Cristea, S., Petrescu, A. M., & Gorghiu, L. M. (2015). Problem-based learning-an efficient learning strategy in the science lessons context. *Procedia-social and behavioral sciences*, 191, 1865-1870.
- Green, T., Wilhelmsen, T., Wilmots, E., Dodd, B., & Quinn, S. (2016). Social anxiety, attributes of online communication and self-disclosure across private and public Facebook communication. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 58, 206-213.
- Green, T., Wilhelmsen, T., Wilmots, E., Dodd, B., & Quinn, S. (2016). Social anxiety, attributes of online communication and self-disclosure across private and public Facebook communication. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 58, 206-213.
- Groccia, J. E. (2018). What Is Student Engagement? *New Directions for Teaching and Learning*, 2018(154), 11-20.

- Hagenauer, G., Gläser-Zikuda, M., & Volet, S. E. (2016). University Teachers' Perceptions of Appropriate Emotion Display and High-Quality Teacher-Student Relationship: Similarities and Differences across Cultural-Educational Contexts. *Frontline Learning Research*, 4(3), 44-74.
- Handelsman, M. M., Briggs, W. L., Sullivan, N., & Towler, A. (2005). A measure of college student course engagement. *The Journal of Educational Research*, 98(3), 184-192.
- Henschke, A. (2017). Ethics in an Age of Surveillance: Personal Information and Virtual Identities. Cambridge University Press.
- Hoferichter, F. (2016). Exploring the landscape of socio-motivational relationships and achievement emotions in secondary school students (Doctoral dissertation).
- Hollenbaugh, E. E., & Ferris, A. L. (2014). Facebook self-disclosure: Examining the role of traits, social cohesion, and motives. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 30, 50-58.
- Horan, S. M., & Myers, S. A. (2009). An exploration of college instructors' perceptions of classroom justice, power, and behavior alteration techniques. Communication Education, 58, 483–496. doi: 10.1080=03634520903055981
- Horan, S. M., Chory, R. M., & Goodboy, A. K. (2010). Understanding students' classroom justice experiences and responses. *Communication Education*, 59(4), 453-474.
- Hosek, A. M., & Thompson, J. (2009). Communication privacy management and college instruction: Exploring the rules and boundaries that frame instructor private disclosures. *Communication Education*, 58(3), 327-349.
- Humphreys, L., Von Pape, T., & Karnowski, V. (2013) Evolving mobile media: uses and conceptualizations of the mobile internet. Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication 18: 491–507.
- Internet World Stats. (n.d.). Countries with Highest Internet Penetration Rates.

 Retrieved April 1, 2019, from Internet World Stats:

 http://www.internetworldstats.com/top25.htm
- Jaidka, K., Guntuku, S. C., & Ungar, L. H. (2018, June). Facebook versus Twitter: Differences in Self-Disclosure and Trait Prediction. In *Twelfth International AAAI Conference on Web and Social Media*.
- Jaidka, K., Guntuku, S. C., Buffone, A., Schwartz, H. A., & Ungar, L. (2018). Facebook vs. twitter: Differences in self-disclosure and trait prediction. In Proceedings of the International AAAI Conference on Web and Social Media.
- Johnson, L., Becker, S. A., Cummins, M., Estrada, V., Freeman, A., & Hall, C. (2016). *NMC horizon report: 2016 higher education edition* (pp. 1-50). The New Media Consortium.

- Jones, A. C. (2008). The effects of out-of-class support on student satisfaction and motivation to learn. *Communication Education*, *57*(3), 373-388.
- Junco R. (2014). Engaging Students through Social Media: Evidence-Based Practices for Use in Student Affairs. John Wiley & Sons Inc.
- Junco R. Cole-Avent G. A. (2008). An introduction to technologies commonly used by college students. New Directions for Student Services, 2008(124), 3–17. 10.1002/ss.292
- Junco R. Cotten S. R. (2011). Perceived academic effects of instant messaging use.Computers & Education, 56(2), 370–378. 10.1016/j.compedu.2010.08.020
- Junco R. Cotten S. R. (2012). No A 4 U: The relationship between multitasking and academic performance. Computers & Education, 59(2), 505–514. 10.1016/j.compedu.2011.12.023
- Junco, R., & Cole-Avent, G. A. (2008). An introduction to technologies commonly used by college students. *New Directions for Student Services*, 2008(124), 3-17.
- Kaplan, A. M., & Haenlein, M. (2010). Users of the world, unite! The challenges and opportunities of Social Media. *Business horizons*, 53(1), 59-68.
- Kaplan, A. M., & Haenlein, M. (2016). Higher education and the digital revolution: About MOOCs, SPOCs, social media, and the Cookie Monster. *Business Horizons*, 59(4), 441-450.
- Karnieli-Miller, O., Michael, K., Segal, O., & Steinberger, A. (2018). Assessing an intervention focused on enhancing interpersonal communication skills and humor: a multi-method quasi-experiential study among medical students. *Health communication*, *33*(12), 1560-1572.
- Kearney, P., Plax, T. G., Richmond, V. P., & McCroskey, J. C. (1984). Power in the classroom IV: Alternatives to discipline. In R. N. Bostrom & B. H. Westley (Eds.), Communication Yearbook 8 (pp. 724–746). Beverly Hills, CA: Sage.
- Kearney, P., Plax, T. G., Richmond, V. P., & McCroskey, J. C. (1985). Power in the classroom III: Instructor communication techniques and messages. Communication Education, 34, 19–28. doi: 10.1080=03634528509378579
- Keller, J. M. (1983). Motivational design of instruction. *Instructional design theories* and models: An overview of their current status, 1(1983), 383-434.
- Kendall, T. A., Cohler, M. R., Zuckerberg, M. E., Juan, Y. F., Jin, R. K. X., Rosenstein, J. M., ... & Palihapitiya, C. M. (2018). *U.S. Patent No.* 9,984,391. Washington, DC: U.S. Patent and Trademark Office.
- Kevin J. Flannelly, Laura T. Flannelly & Katherine R. B. Jankowski (2018): Threats to the Internal Validity of Experimental and Quasi-Experimental Research in Healthcare, Journal of Health Care Chaplaincy, DOI: 10.1080/08854726.2017.1421019

- Kim, J., Song, H., & Luo, W. (2016). Broadening the understanding of social presence: Implications and contributions to the mediated communication and online education. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 65, 672-679.
- Kim, S. Y., Kim, M. S., Park, B., Kim, J. H., & Choi, H. G. (2017). The associations between internet use time and school performance among Korean adolescents differ according to the purpose of internet use. *PloS one*, *12*(4), e0174878.
- Kirschner, P. A., & Karpinski, A. C. (2010). Facebook and academic performance. *Computers in human behavior*, 26(6), 1237-1245.
- Kuru, O., Bayer, J., Pasek, J., & Campbell, S. W. (2017). Understanding and measuring mobile Facebook use: Who, why, and how? *Mobile Media & Communication*, 5(1), 102-120.
- Ladd, G. W., & Dinella, L. M. (2009). Continuity and change in early school engagement: Predictive of children's achievement trajectories from first to eighth grade? *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *101*(1), 190.
- Ladd, G.W., Birch, S.H., and Buhs, E.S. (1999). Children's social and scholastic lives in kindergarten: Related spheres of influence? Child Development, 70 (6), 1373-1400.
- Lambić, D. (2016). Correlation between Facebook use for educational purposes and academic performance of students. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 61, 313-320.
- Lannutti, P. J., & Strauman, E. C. (2006). Classroom communication: The influence of instructor self-disclosure on student evaluations. *Communication Quarterly*, 54(1), 89-99.
- Lau, W. W. (2017). Effects of social media usage and social media multitasking on the academic performance of university students. *Computers in human behavior*, 68, 286-291.
- Lazar, J., Feng, J. H., & Hochheiser, H. (2017). Research methods in human-computer interaction. Morgan Kaufmann.
- Liliweri, A. (2015). Teori-Teori Komunikasi Antarbudaya. *Yogyakarta: Pelangi Aksara*
- Lopes, R. M., Fidalgo-Neto, A. A., & Mota, F. B. (2017). Facebook in educational research: a bibliometric analysis. *Scientometrics*, 111(3), 1591-1621.
- Losh S.C (2017, September 18) Experiment & Quasi- Experiment. Retrieved from http://myweb.fsu.edu/slosh/MethodsGuide4.html
- Lotay, A. (2016). Disclosure of psychological distress by university students on an anonymous social media application: an online ethnographic study.
- Mahmud, M. M., Ramachandiran, C. R., & Ismail, O. (2016). Social media and classroom engagement: students' perception. *Journal of Media Critiques* [JMC], 2(8).

- Manca, S., & Ranieri, M. (2017). Implications of social network sites for teaching and learning. Where we are and where we want to go. *Education and Information Technologies*, 22(2), 605-622.
- Marino, C., Gini, G., Vieno, A., & Spada, M. M. (2018). The associations between problematic Facebook use, psychological distress and well-being among adolescents and young adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 226, 274-281.
- Marino, C., Vieno, A., Moss, A. C., Caselli, G., Nikčević, A. V., & Spada, M. M. (2016). Personality, motives and metacognitions as predictors of problematic Facebook use in university students. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 101, 70-77.
- Mazer, J. P., Murphy, R. E., & Simonds, C. J. (2007). I'll see you on "Facebook": The effects of computer-mediated teacher self-disclosure on student motivation, affective learning, and classroom climate. *Communication education*, 56(1), 1-17.
- Mazer, J. P., Murphy, R. E., & Simonds, C. J. (2009). The effects of teacher self-disclosure via Facebook on teacher credibility. *Learning, Media and technology*, 34(2), 175-183.
- McCroskey, J. C., & Richmond, V. P. (1983). Power in the classroom I: Instructor and student perceptions. Communication Education, 32, 175–184.
- McCroskey, J. C., Richmond, V. P., Plax, T. G., & Kearney, P. (1985). Power in the classroom V: Behavior alteration techniques, communication training and learning. Communication Education, 34, 214–226. doi: 10.1080=03634528509378609
- McCroskey, J. C., Sallinen, A., Fayer, J. M., Richmond, V. P., & Barraclough, R. A. (1996). Nonverbal immediacy and cognitive learning: A cross-cultural investigation. Communication Education, 45, 200–211. doi: 10.1080=03634529609379049
- McCroskey, J. C., Valencic, K. M., & Richmond, V. P. (2004). Toward a general model of instructional communication. Communication Quarterly, 52, 197–210. doi: 10.1080=01463370409370192
- McLean, M. (2001). Can we relate conceptions of learning to student academic achievement? Teaching in Higher Education, 6, 399-413.
- McPherson, M. B., & Young, S. L. (2004). What students think when teachers get upset: Fundamental attribution error and student-generated reasons for teacher anger. *Communication Quarterly*, *52*(4), 357-369.
- Mehdizadeh, S. (2010). Self-presentation 2.0: Narcissism and self-esteem on Facebook. *Cyberpsychology, behavior, and social networking*, 13(4), 357-364.
- Mehrabian, A. (1971). Silent messages. Belmont, CA: Wadsworth. Mehrabian, A. (1980). A new theory of psychology. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.

- Mehrabian, A. (1981). Silent messages: Implicit communication of emotions and attitudes. Belmont, CA: Wadsworth.
- Mehrabian, A., & Russell, J. A. (1974). An approach to environmental psychology. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Mensah, S. O., & Nizam, I. (2016). The impact of social media on students' academic performance-A case of Malaysia Tertiary Institution. *International Journal of Education, Learning and Training*, 1(1), 14-21.
- Messman, S., & Jones-Corley, J. (2001). Effects of communication environment, immediacy, and communication apprehension on cognitive and affective learning. *Communication Monographs*, 68(2), 184-200.
- Miller, R. B., Greene, B. A., Montalvo, G. P., Ravindran, B., & Nichols, J. D. (1996). Engagement in academic work: The role of learning goals, future consequences, pleasing others, and perceived ability. Contemporary Educational Psychology, 21, 388–422
- Moghavvemi, S., Paramanathan, T., Rahin, N. M., & Sharabati, M. (2017). Student's perceptions towards using e-learning via Facebook. *Behaviour & Information Technology*, 36(10), 1081-1100.
- Mottet, T. P., & Beebe, S. A. (2002). Relationships between teacher nonverbal immediacy, student emotional response, and perceived student learning. Communication Research Reports, 19, 77–88. doi: 10.1080=08824090209384834
- Mottet, T. P., Frymier, A. B., & Beebe, S. A. (2006). Theorizing about instructional communication. In T. P. Mottet, V. P. Richmond, & J. C. McCroskey (Eds.), Handbook of instructional communication: Rhetorical and relational perspectives (pp. 3–32). Boston, MA: Allyn & Bacon
- Mottet, T. P., Frymier, A. B., & Beebe, S. A. (2006). Theorizing about instructional communication. *Handbook of instructional communication: Rhetorical and relational perspectives*, 255-282.
- Meluch, A., & Starcher, S. (2019). Instructor Disclosures of Communication Apprehension and Student Perceptions of Instructor Credibility in the Public Speaking Classroom. *International Journal of Teaching and Learning in Higher Education*, 31(2), 299-309.
- Nadeem, M. U., Mohammed, R., & Dalib, S. (2017). A proposed model of intercultural communication competence (ICC) in Malaysian context. *International Journal of Educational Research Review*, 2(2), 11-20.
- Nadler, M. K., & Nadler, L. B. (2001). The roles of sex, empathy, and credibility in out-of-class communication between faculty and students. *Women's studies in communication*, 24(2), 241-261.

- Nesi, J., Widman, L., Choukas-Bradley, S., & Prinstein, M. J. (2017). Technology-based communication and the development of interpersonal competencies within adolescent romantic relationships: a preliminary investigation. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 27(2), 471-477.
- Neuman, W. L. (2016). Understanding research. Pearson.
- Nussbaum, J. F., Comadena, M. E., & Holladay, S. J. (1987). Classroom verbal behavior of highly effective teachers. Journal of Thought, 22, 73-80.
- Ong, A. (2007). Neoliberalism as a mobile technology. *Transactions of the Institute of British Geographers*, 32(1), 3-8.
- Orfanou K. Tselios N. Katsanos C. (2015). Perceived usability evaluation of learning management systems: Empirical evaluation of the System Usability Scale. The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning, 16(2), 227–246. 10.19173/irrodl.v16i2.1955
- Orfanou, K., Tselios, N., & Katsanos, C. (2015). Perceived usability evaluation of learning management systems: Empirical evaluation of the System Usability Scale. *International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 16(2), 227-246.
- Pallant, J. (2016). SPSS Survival Manual: A Step by Step Guide to Data Analysis Using IBM SPSS, 6th Edn Crows Nest. *NSW: Allen &Unwin*.
- Paulsel, M. L. (2005). Classroom justice as a predictor of students' perceptions of empowerment and emotional response.
- Paulsel, M. L., & Chory-Assad, R. M. (2005). Perceptions of instructor interactional justice as a predictor of student resistance. Communication Research Reports, 22, 283–291. doi: 10.1080=000368105000317565
- Pekrun, R., Goetz, T., Frenzel, A. C., Barchfeld, P., & Perry, R. P. (2011). Measuring emotions in students' learning and performance: The Achievement Emotions Questionnaire (AEQ). *Contemporary educational psychology*, 36(1), 36-48.
- Pekrun, R., Goetz, T., Titz, W., & Perry, R. P. (2002). Academic emotions in students' self-regulated learning and achievement: A program of qualitative and quantitative research. *Educational psychologist*, *37*(2), 91-105.
- Pelet, J. É., Ettis, S., & Cowart, K. (2017). Optimal experience of flow enhanced by telepresence: Evidence from social media use. *Information & Management*, 54(1), 115-128.
- Petronio, S. (2002). Boundaries of privacy: Dialectics of disclosure. Albany: State University of New York Press.
- Petronio, S. (2015). Communication privacy management theory. *The International Encyclopedia of Interpersonal Communication*, 1-9.
- Plax, T. G., Kearney, P., McCroskey, J. C., & Richmond, V. P. (1986). Power in the classroom VI: Verbal control strategies, nonverbal immediacy and affective learning. *Communication Education*, *35*(1), 43-55.

- Rambaree, K., & Knez, I. (2017). Young people's identity & Facebook behaviour: The role of gender and ethnicity. *Cogent Social Sciences*, *3*(1), 13-29.
- Reece, B., & Reece, M. (2016). Effective human relations: Interpersonal and organizational applications. Cengage Learning.
- Reichert, F., Chen, J., & Torney-Purta, J. (2018). Profiles of Adolescents' Perceptions of Democratic Classroom Climate and Students' Influence: The Effect of School and Community Contexts. *Journal of youth and adolescence*, 47(6), 1279-1298.
- Ribble, M. (2015). Digital citizenship in schools: Nine elements all students should know. International Society for Technology in Education.
- Richardson, B. K., Alexander, A., & Castleberry, T. (2008). Examining teacher turnover in low-performing, multi-cultural schools: Relationships among emotional labor, communication symmetry, and intent to leave. *Communication Research Reports*, 25(1), 10-22.
- Roach, K. D., Richmond, V. P., & Mottet, T. P. (2006). Teachers' influence messages. In T. P. Mottet, V. P. Richmond, & J. C. McCroskey (Eds.), Handbook of instructional communication: Rhetorical and relational perspectives (pp. 117–139). Boston, MA: Allyn & Bacon.
- Rojas, Frank A., "Students' Perspective of the Role of Facebook in their Studies" (2012). FIU Electronic Theses and Dissertations. 815. https://digitalcommons.fiu.edu/etd/815
- Rosli, M. S., Saleh, N. S., Aris, B., Ahmad, M. H., Sejzi, A. A., & Shamsudin, N. A. (2016). E-Learning and Social Media Motivation Factor Model. *International Education Studies*, *9*(1), 20-30.
- Ross, C., Orr, E. S., Sisic, M., Arseneault, J. M., Simmering, M. G., & Orr, R. R. (2011). Personality and motivations associated with Facebook use. Computers in Human Behavior, 25, 578-586.
- Russell, J. A., & Barrett, L. F. (1999). Core affect, prototypical emotional episodes, and other things called emotion: Dissecting the elephant. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 76, 805–819.
- Russell, J. A., & Mehrabian, A. (1977). Evidence for a three-factor theory of emotions. Journal of Research in Personality, 11, 273–294.
- Ryan, T., & Xenos, S. (2011). Who uses Facebook? An investigation into the relationship between the Big Five, shyness, narcissism, loneliness, and Facebook usage. *Computers in human behavior*, 27(5), 1658-1664.
- Melvin M. Mark Charles S. Reichardt Quasi-Experimentation (2008) E-book Central, http://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/monash/detail.action?docID=1995661.
- Sadowski, C., Pediaditis, M., & Townsend, R. (2017). University students' perceptions of social networking sites (SNSs) in their educational experiences at a regional Australian university. *Australasian Journal of Educational Technology*, 33(5).

- Saha, N., & Karpinski, A. C. (2018). The Influence of Social Media on International Students' Global Life Satisfaction and Academic Performance. In *Student Engagement and Participation: Concepts, Methodologies, Tools, and Applications* (pp. 1255-1275). IGI Global.
- Samaha, M., & Hawi, N. S. (2016). Relationships among smartphone addiction, stress, academic performance, and satisfaction with life. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 57, 321-325.
- Schrock, A. R. (2016) Exploring the relationship between mobile Facebook and social capital: what is the "mobile difference" for parents of young children? Social Media+Society 2: 11.
- Scissors, L., Burke, M., & Wengrovitz, S. (2016, February). What's in a Like?: Attitudes and behaviors around receiving Likes on Facebook. In *Proceedings* of the 19th ACM Conference on Computer-Supported Cooperative Work & Social Computing (pp. 1501-1510). ACM.
- Scott, K. S., Sorokti, K. H., & Merrell, J. D. (2016). Learning "beyond the classroom" within an enterprise social network system. *The Internet and Higher Education*, 29, 75-90.
- Sekaran, U., & Bougie, R. (2016). Research methods for business: A skill building approach. John Wiley & Sons Inc.
- Sinatra, G. M., & Hofer, B. K. (2016). Public understanding of science: Policy and educational implications. *Policy Insights from the Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 3(2), 245-253.
- Singh, A. K. & Lairopuii. (2014). Role of interpersonal communication in organizational effectiveness. International Journal of Research in Management & Business Studies (IJRMBS), 1 (4), 36-39
- Skinner, E. A., & Belmont, M. J. (1993). Motivation in the classroom: Reciprocal effects of teacher behavior and student engagement across the school year. *Journal of educational psychology*, 85(4), 571.
- Sobaih, A. E. E., Moustafa, M. A., Ghandforoush, P., & Khan, M. (2016). To use or not to use? Social media in higher education in developing countries. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 58, 296-305.
- Song, H. S., Kalet, A. L., & Plass, J. L. (2016). Interplay of prior knowledge, self-regulation and motivation in complex multimedia learning environments. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 32(1), 31-50.
- Song, X., Ming, Z. Y., Nie, L., Zhao, Y. L., & Chua, T. S. (2016). Volunteerism tendency prediction via harvesting multiple social networks. *ACM Transactions on Information Systems (TOIS)*, 34(2), 10.
- Special, W. P., & Li-Barber, K. T. (2012). Self-disclosure and student satisfaction with Facebook. Computers in Human Behavior, 28, 624–630
- Statista. com. (2016). Leading social networks worldwide as of April 2016, ranked by number of active users.

- Straus, J. R., Williams, R., Shogan, C., & Glassman, M. (2014). Social Media as a Communication Tool in Congress: Evaluating Senate Usage of Twitter in the 113th Congress. In *APSA 2014 Annual Meeting*.
- Straus, J., Williams, R., Shogan, C., & Glassman, M. (2014). Social media as a communication tool in Congress: Evaluating Senate usage of Twitter in the 113th Congress. In *APSA 2014 Annual Meeting Paper*.
- Strickland III, E. M. (2016). The effect of teacher self-disclosure on student motivation and affect toward teacher in online education (Doctoral dissertation, Boston University).
- Sulaiman, A., Jaafar, N. I., & Tamjidyamcholo, A. (2018). Influence of personality traits on Facebook engagement and their effects on socialization behavior and satisfaction with university life. *Information, Communication & Society*, 21(10), 1506-1521.
- Suranto, J. (2011). Strategi coping pada mahasiswa program Psikologi-Tarbiyah UMS. Skripsi (tidak dipublikasikan). Surakarta: Universitas Muhammadiyah Surakarta.
- T.-M. Joo & C.-E. Teng 36 International Journal of Knowledge Content Development & Technology Vol.7, No.4, 27-50 (December, 2017)
- Tanner-Smith, E. E., & Fisher, B. W. (2016). Visible school security measures and student academic performance, attendance, and postsecondary aspirations. *Journal of youth and adolescence*, 45(1), 195-210.
- Teven, J. J., &. McCroskey, J. C (1997). The relationship of perceived teacher caring with student learning and teacher evaluation. Communication Education 46: 1–9.
- Teven, J. J., & Hanson. H. L. (2004). The impact of teacher immediacy and perceived caring on teacher competence and trustworthiness. Communication Quarterly 52: 39–53.
- Teideman, G. (2017). Navigating learning during the first year at university for direct entry physical education students (Doctoral dissertation, University of Brighton).
- Titsworth, S., McKenna, T. P., Mazer, J. P., & Quinlan, M. M. (2013). The bright side of emotion in the classroom: Do teachers' behaviors predict students' enjoyment, hope, and pride? *Communication Education*, 62(2), 191-209.
- Tosun, L. P. (2012). Motives for Facebook use and expressing "true self" on the Internet. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 28(4), 1510-1517.
- Trist, E., Murray, H., & Trist, B. (Eds.). (2016). The Social Engagement of Social Science, a Tavistock Anthology, Volume 1: The Socio-Psychological Perspective (Vol. 1). University of Pennsylvania Press.

- Tsetsura, K., Bigam, M., Buford, L., & Chen, X. (2003, May). E-motional interaction between teaching assistants and students: Expressing emotions via WebCT. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the International Communication Association, San Diego, CA
- Tufekci, Z. (2008). Grooming, gossip, Facebook and MySpace: What can we learn about these sites from those who won't assimilate? *Information, Communication & Society*, 11(4), 544-564.
- Valkenburg, P. M., & Peter, J. (2011). Online communication among adolescents: An integrated model of its attraction, opportunities, and risks. *Journal of adolescent health*, 48(2), 121-127.
- Van Merriënboer, J. J., & Kirschner, P. A. (2017). Ten steps to complex learning: A systematic approach to four-component instructional design. Routledge.
- Vinson, L., & Biggers, T. (1993). Emotional responses as a predictor of compliance-gaining message selection. Southern Communication Journal, 58, 192–206. doi: 10.1080=10417949309372901
- Waldeck, J. H., & LaBelle, S. (2016). Theoretical and methodological approaches to instructional communication. In W. Paul (Ed.), Handbooks of communication and science: Communication and learning (Vol. 16, pp. 67–101). Berlin: DeGruyter Mouton.
- Wamback, C., & Brothen, T. (1997). Teacher self-disclosure and student classroom participation revisited. Teaching of Psychology 24: 262–63.
- Wang, M. T., Willett, J. B., & Eccles, J. S. (2011). The assessment of school engagement: Examining dimensionality and measurement invariance by gender and race/ethnicity. *Journal of School Psychology*, 49(4), 465-480.
- Wasiuzzaman, S., & Edalat, S. (2016). Personality, risk tolerance and social network use: an exploratory study. *Managerial Finance*, 42(6), 536-552.
- Wiersma, W. (1985). Research methods in education: An introduction (No. LB 1028. W53 1985).
- Wilson, K., Fornasier, S., & White, K. M. (2010). Psychological predictors of young adults' use of social networking sites. *Cyberpsychology, behavior, and social networking*, 13(2), 173-177.
- Wise, K., Alhabash, S., & Park, H. (2010). Emotional responses during social information seeking on Facebook. *Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking*, 13(5), 555-562.
- Wood, W. (2000). Attitude change: Persuasion and social influence. Annual Rev. Psych. 51 539–570.
- Yeap, J. A., Ramayah, T., & Soto-Acosta, P. (2016). Factors propelling the adoption of m-learning among students in higher education. *Electronic Markets*, 26(4), 323-338.

- Yedidia, M. J., Gillespie, C. C., Kachur, E., Schwartz, M. D., Ockene, J., Chepaitis, A. E., Snyder, C.W., Lazare, A., and Lipkin Jr, M., 2003. Effect of Communications Training on Medical Student Performance. Jama, 290 (9), pp. 1157-1165.
- Yin, R. K. (2009) Case Study Research: Design and Methods. Fourth edition. Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks CA.
- Yousuf, R., 2013. Social Skills and their Relationship with the Public and Efficient Self-achievement among a Sample of Students in Middle School with a Barrier in the light of a number of Variables. Journal of the Islamic University for Educational and Psychological Studies, pp. 21.
- Zhang, Q., & Zhu, W. (2008). Exploring emotion in teaching: Emotional labor, burnout, and satisfaction in Chinese higher education. Communication Education, 57, 105–122. doi: 10.1080=03634520701586310
- Zhang, S., Liu, Q., Chen, W., Wang, Q., & Huang, Z. (2017). Interactive networks and social knowledge construction behavioral patterns in primary school teachers' online collaborative learning activities. *Computers & Education*, 104, 1-17.
- Zhang, R. (2017). The stress-buffering effect of self-disclosure on Facebook: An examination of stressful life events, social support, and mental health among college students. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 75, 527-537
- Zhong, B., Hardin, M., & Sun, T. (2011). Less effortful thinking leads to more social networking? The associations between the use of social network sites and personality traits. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 27(3), 1265-1271.

BIODATA OF STUDENT

Padma Pillai obtained her Bachelor of Arts (Hons) in English Language and Journalism from Universiti Putra Malaysia. She also holds a Master of Language and Media Communication degree from Universiti Putra Malaysia.

Padma's 20 colourful years of academic career begin in 1999. She commenced her career as a lecturer in 1999 at Rima Secretarial College for about a year, teaching communication skills and English language before moving on to SEGi College, where her teaching skills were further developed. At present, she holds the position of Senior Lecturer and Programme Chair at Sunway University, where she served over the last nine years to date.

An experienced professional with demonstrated ability in lecturing, mentoring, supervising, programme coordinating, and researching in academics. Have working knowledge and experience in print journalism, scriptwriting, instructional designing, language training, editing, and publishing. Possess excellent communication and leadership skills, dynamic characteristics, and result-oriented work ethics coupled with an excellent academic track record and student engagement activities.

Apart from lecturing, having had assumed the role of Academic Coordinator, Club Advisor to Sunway University Marketing Society (SUMS) and Sunway Communication Networking Club (SCN Club), Special Project Supervisor, Senior Project & Internship Supervisor in the past.

Padma was awarded the best presenter at the 3rd International Conference on Education and E-Learning (ICEEL 2019) held at Universitat de Barcelona, Spain, from 5 to 7 November 2019 for presenting this doctoral research.

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

- Pillai, P. (2015) Facebook: Lecturers' Personality, Credibility and Students' Performances, the Online Journal of Communication and Media, Vol. 1, Issue 1, 17-22
- Pillai, P. & Shanmugam, V (2016) I Feel Connected: A comparison study of students' engagement and lecturers' credibility between Faculty of Arts and School of Business. Journal of Media Critiques, Vol.2, No 8, doi: 10.17349/jmc116216





UNIVERSITI PUTRA MALAYSIA

STATUS CONFIRMATION FOR THESIS / PROJECT REPORT AND COPYRIGHT

ACADEMIC SESSION : First Semester 2021/2021

Ţ	1	T	.TE	O	F	TH	ESIS	/ F	PR	OJ	EC	T	REP	OR	Т	:

IMPACT OF LECTURER'S PERSONAL AND IMPERSONAL FACEBOOK ACCOUNT
ACCESS ON STUDENTS' PERCEIVED LECTURERS SELF-DISCLOSURE, STUDENTS'
EMOTIONAL ENGAGEMENT, STUDENT-LECTURER COMMUNICATION
SATISFACTION, AND ACADEMIC PERFORMANCE

NAME OF STUDENT: PADMA PRIYA K.R PILLAI

I acknowledge that the copyright and other intellectual property in the thesis/project report belonged to Universiti Putra Malaysia and I agree to allow this thesis/project report to be placed at the library under the following terms:

- 1. This thesis/project report is the property of Universiti Putra Malaysia.
- 2. The library of Universiti Putra Malaysia has the right to make copies for educational purposes only.
- 3. The library of Universiti Putra Malaysia is allowed to make copies of this thesis for academic exchange.

I declare that this thesis is classified as:

*Places tick (1/)

riedse tick (V)							
CONFIDENTIAL	(Contain confidential information under Official Secret Act 1972).						
RESTRICTED	(Contains restricted information as specified by the organization/institution where research was done).						
OPEN ACCESS	I agree that my thesis/project report to be published as hard copy or online open access.						
This thesis is submitted for :							
PATENT	Embargo from until (date) (date)						
	Approved by:						
(Signature of Student) New IC No/ Passport No.:	(Signature of Chairman of Supervisory Committee) Name:						
Date :	Date :						

[Note: If the thesis is CONFIDENTIAL or RESTRICTED, please attach with the letter from the organization/institution with period and reasons for confidentially or restricted.]